#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC10-118** 

#### **MARTIN GROSSMAN**

Death Warrant Signed: Execution Scheduled For February 16, 2010 6:00 pm

Appellant,

v.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Richard E. Kiley
Florida Bar No. 0558893
Assistant CCRC-Middle
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive
Suite 210
Tampa, FL 33619
(813) 740-3544
COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

### **

#### I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Mr. Grossman was convicted of First Degree Murder as charged after a trial held October 22-31, 1985. Following the penalty phase, a jury recommended the death penalty. On March 19, 1986, the trial judge entered his written order in support of the death sentence. Mr. Grossman appealed his conviction to the Florida Supreme Court which affirmed his conviction and sentence in <u>Grossman v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1988). Included in Mr. Grossman's direct appeal for review was the denial of the motion to sever. Mr. Grossman sought review in the United States

Supreme Court which denied the petition for writ of certiorari. <u>Grossman v.</u> <u>Florida</u>, 489 U.S. 1071 (1989).

A death warrant was signed on March 8, 1990. The execution was stayed by the Florida Supreme Court on April 5, 1990. Mr. Grossman filed his Rule 3.850 Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence in state court. Included in the motion were claims of ineffective assistance of counsel in penalty phase and the failure of the state to disclose exculpatory, material evidence. After an evidentiary hearing on May 31 - June 2, 1994, the state trial court denied the Rule 3.850 motion on October 2, 1995.

Mr. Grossman appealed the state court denial of the Rule 3.850 post-conviction relief motion to the Florida Supreme Court. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the denial of Rule 3.850 relief. <u>Grossman v. Dugger</u>, 708 So.2d 249 (Fla. 1997).

Mr. Grossman then timely filed a federal Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on September 18, 1998. That petition was stricken and returned to Mr. Grossman. The order striking the petition was modified and Mr. Grossman filed a petition in response to that modified order. Respondent filed a response to that petition on February 25, 2002, and Mr. Grossman filed a reply on March 21, 2002.

On July 22, 2002, the case was administratively closed pending the outcome of two Florida cases that raised Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) issues. On August 14, 2003, Mr. Grossman filed a successive state habeas petition. The Florida Supreme Court rejected the petition in a one-sentence order issued May 7, 2004. Mr. Grossman filed a motion for rehearing on May 19, 2004. The motion was denied on July 15, 2004. On May 16, 2005, Mr. Grossman filed a Successive Motion to Vacate Judgements of Conviction and Sentences. That motion was denied by the circuit court on August 1, 2005. A timely notice of appeal was filed August 31, 2005. The Florida Supreme Court summarily denied the appeal on May 25, 2006.

On July 26, 2004, Mr. Grossman's federal proceeding was reopened, and he filed his amended petition on August 25, 2004. The petition was denied by the Federal District Court on January 31, 2005. Mr. Grossman made application for a certificate of appealability which was denied by the Federal District Court on February 28, 2005. Mr. Grossman filed a renewed application for a certificate of appealability. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals denied relief by affirming the district court's decision on October 16, 2006. Mr. Grossman made a petition for certiorari with the United States Supreme Court which was denied on May 21, 2007.

Pursuant to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.851, Mr. Grossman filed a Second Successive Motion to Vacate Judgements of Conviction and Sentences on September 12, 2007. The circuit court orally denied this motion on February 1, 2008 and the Honorable Judge Joseph A. Bulone signed his order of denial in writing on February 26, 2008. Mr. Grossman filed a notice of appeal on March 20, 2008. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the lower court on February 26, 2009. On January 12, 2010, the Governor signed a death warrant on Martin Grossman.

Mr. Grossman filed his Third Successive Motion to Vacate Judgements of Conviction and Sentences on January 18, 2010. The circuit court denied the request for an evidentiary hearing in an order signed on January 21, 2010.

#### THE LOWER COURT'S ORDER

#### **CLAIM I**

In claim I, the Defendant alleges that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance at the penalty phase of his trial for failing to have him examined by a mental health professional. He contends that, therefore, the court did not hear all possible evidence regarding mitigating circumstances before sentencing. He further claims that he has not raised this matter before because it constitutes newly

discovered evidence. This court finds that the Defendant is not entitled to relief on claim I for the following reasons:

#### A. Claim I is successive

Claim VI of the Defendant's original rule 3.851 motion for postconviction relief, filed August 13, 1990, alleged that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance for not having the Defendant examined by a mental health professional. In an order entered October 17, 1991, this court summarily denied claim VI. Following an evidentiary hearing on several of the Defendant's other claims, this court entered a final order denying the Defendants original rule 3.851 motion for postconviction relief. In a written opinion, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed this court's order denying the Defendant's original rule 3.851 motion for postconviction relief. See Grossman, 708 So.2d 249.

The Defendant argues that the court erred in denying a hearing on claim VI of his original rule 3.851 motion. Specifically, his argument concerns an evaluation performed by the late Dr. Henry Dee. He asserts that Dr. Dee would have been available to testify at the evidentiary hearing conducted on May 31, 1994, through June 2, 1994, to support the Defendant's allegation in claim VI of the original rule 3.851 motion that counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and arrange a mental health evaluation by a competent mental health professional. The

Defendant also claims that due to this court's summary denial of claim VI of the original rule 3.851 motion, he was precluded from presenting the testimony of R. Brad Fisher, Ph.D., at the evidentiary hearing conducted on May 31, 1994, through June 2, 1994. The Defendant indicates that Dr. Fisher would have testified that he examined the Defendant on March 28, 1990, and prepared a report that would have been presented into evidence to rebut the contentions of Sidney J. Merin, Ph.D. Attached to the Defendant's fourth rule 3.851 motion is Dr. Fisher's Psychological Evaluation of March 28, 1990. This same evaluation was attached to the original rule 3.851 motion as appendix 24. Further, the report of Dr.Merin, which is attached to the Defendant's fourth rule 3.851 motion, is dated September 17, 1985.

The Defendant claims that this court's ruling summarily denying claim VI of the original rule 3.851 motion was erroneous and asserts that the Florida Supreme Court's affirmance of this court's order also was erroneous. Specifically, the Defendant contends that the Florida Supreme Court used the wrong standard in affirming the denial of claim VI of the Defendant's original rule 3.851 motion. He alleges that the Supreme Court's review should have been governed by the standard set out in Gaskin v. State, 737 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1999).

The court finds this argument to be procedurally barred; the Defendant's claim that he was denied effective assistance of counsel based on the allegation

that there was a failure to arrange an examination by a competent mental health professional has already been addressed by this Court in the October 16, 1991, non-final order. As the Defendant concedes, the final order denying his original rule 3.851 motion has been affirmed by the Florida Supreme Court. Grossman, 708 So.2d 249. The Florida Supreme Court specifically noted that claim VI was procedurally barred. <u>Id</u>. at 252 n.6. In response to the Defendant's federal petition for writ of habeas corpus the Federal District Court concluded, "Grossman has failed to demonstrate any error in the denial of his claim that his attorneys were ineffective in the investigation and presentation of mitigating evidence." Grossman v. Crosby, 359 F. Supp. 2d at 1267-70. The District Court's denial of the petition for writ of habeas corpus was affirmed by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeal and, thereafter, a petition for writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court was denied. Grossman v. McDonough, 466 F.3d 1325, cert. denied, 550 U.S. 958.

This court did not err in summarily denying claim VI of the Defendant's original rule 3.851 motion. In addition to finding that claim VI was procedurally barred, the court went on to consider the merits of the claim, assuming that the procedural bar was not in place. The court, therefore, finds this claim to be successive and procedurally barred, as it has already been considered and denied.

#### **B.** Claim I is untimely

The court finds that the defendant's claim does not present newly discovered evidence and is therefore untimely. The Defendant has already had the opportunity to argue these grounds - in fact, he does not specifically cite any newly discovered evidence or information in his claim. In his original rule 3.851 motion, he presented substantially the same allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to have the Defendant examined by a mental health expert. The Defendant was clearly aware of this matter in 1991, when he argued it in his original motion. The court cannot consider the claim to be newly discovered.

Nevertheless, the Defendant contends that he should be granted an evidentiary hearing on this claim based upon Massaro v. United States; 538 U.S. 500 (2003), Allen v. Butterworth; 756 So.2d 52 (Fla. 2000); and Porter v. McCollum, 130 S.Ct. 447 (U.S. 2009). This court is not bound to grant an evidentiary hearing based on these cases. The court notes that Massaro deals with an initial claim and holds that allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel may be brought in collateral proceedings - not that evidentiary hearings should always be held on such claims. See Massaro, 538 U.S. at 502-503, 504. Additionally, Allen suggested proposed amendments to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure that would require an evidentiary hearing "in respect to the *initial* motion in every

case." <u>Allen</u>, 576 So.2d at 66-67 (emphasis added). Finally, <u>Porter</u> involved an initial federal habeas petition, holding that it was ineffective assistance for counsel not to uncover mitigating evidence during the penalty phase of trial. <u>See Porter</u>, 130 S.Ct. at 452-53. However, <u>Porter</u> provides no grounds for this court to return to a successive claim that has already been decided and upheld.

Lastly, the Defendant criticizes the Florida Supreme Court for reliance on "procedural defaults" to preclude consideration of issues and cites to an unidentified ABA report claiming that Florida's death penalty scheme violates Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972). The Defendant's allegations are without merit. See Marek v. State, 8 So.3d 1123, (Fla. 2009), cert. denied, 130 S.Ct. 40 (2009).

Claim I is denied.

#### **CLAIM II**

The Defendant argues that the Florida death penalty statute as applied to him is arbitrary and capricious, and therefore in violation of Furman, 408 U.S. 238, in the following three ways:

**A.** The Defendant submits that the court and jury were not able to consider

all possible mitigating evidence at the penalty phase, as argued in claim I, which renders his death sentence arbitrary. As discussed above, however, the Defendant's allegations regarding the matter of mitigating evidence at the penalty phase of trial are untimely and successive. In evaluating the Defendant's original rule 3.851 motion, this court found no error in counsel's performance at the penalty phase. Additionally, after conducting an evidentiary hearing on the Defendant's original rule 3.851 motion, the court concluded, "[e]ven if counsel were deemed ineffective for the reasons stated by the Defendant, such alleged ineffectiveness did not come close to be so prejudicial to the Defendant that it affected the outcome of the case."

B. The Defendant alleges that, at trial, the State violated <u>Giglio v. United</u>

<u>States</u>,405 U.S. 150 (1972), by presenting false testimony of witness Charles

Brewer. The Defendant claims that he is unfairly being treated differently than another inmate, Paul Beasley Johnson, whose sentence of death was recently vacated by the Florida Supreme Court due to a finding of prosecutorial misconduct resulting from a <u>Giglio</u> violation. <u>See Johnson v. State</u>, 35 Fla. L. Weekly S43a, 2010 WL 121248 (Fla., January 14, 2010).

The Defendant contends that Brewer was working as a government agent and testified falsely at trial. Brewer later recanted his testimony. The Defendant

points to the <u>Johnson</u> decision, which involved trial testimony of an informant that later was determined to be false. It appears that in both cases, the witness in question was another inmate who received information from the defendant while incarcerated. The Defendant alleges that he should receive the same relief as Johnson.

The Defendant is not entitled to relief. In Johnson, a successive rule 3.851 motion presented newly discovered evidence that the State committed a Giglio violation by knowingly presenting false testimony. See Johnson, 2010 WL 121248 at \*1. In the Defendant's original rule 3.851 motion, he raised a claim of prosecutorial misconduct regarding Brewer's testimony. Following an evidentiary hearing on that claim, a final order denying the Defendant's original rule 3.851 motion was entered on October 2, 1995. The court found that there was no evidence that the State knew Brewer's testimony was false at the time of trial and further found that, in any event, the Defendant had not shown how Brewer's allegedly false testimony affected the judgment or sentence in the Defendant's case. In his fourth rule 3.851 motion, the Defendant does not provide any new evidence or indication that prosecutorial misconduct occurred. His claim is successive and has previously been determined to have no merit.

**C.** The Defendant also argues that the death penalty is arbitrary and capricious

as applied to him in relation to the clemency process. He was denied clemency by the Governor in 1988. He claims that clemency procedures are impermissibly arbitrary and that he has not had the opportunity to present newly discovered evidence acquired over the course of time about his mind-set at the time he was 19 years old, when the offense in this case was committed.

The court finds that the Defendant is not entitled to relief on this claim. Since the time of his clemency proceedings, nothing has prevented the Defendant from bringing claims about this allegedly newly discovered evidence. His motion does not explain why he has not previously addressed the matter.

As the Florida Supreme Court stated in <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 1209, 1211 (Fla. 1986), "It is not our prerogative to second-guess the application of this exclusive executive function ... [T]he principle of separation of powers requires the judiciary to adopt an extremely cautious approach in analyzing questions involving this admitted matter of executive grace." Moreover, the Florida Supreme Court recently has denied claims that the clemency process is arbitrary. <u>See Marek</u>, 8 So.3d 1123.

Claim II is denied.

#### **CLAIM III**

The Defendant alleges that proceeding with his execution will violated the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution because he may be incompetent at the time of execution. However, this court has determined that this argument is premature under both section 922.07, Florida Statutes (2009) and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.811. Rule 3.811 (c) provides that "no motion for a stay of execution pending hearing, based on grounds of the prisoner's insanity to be executed, shall be entertained by any court until such time as the Governor of Florida shall have held appropriate proceedings for determining the issue pursuant to the appropriate Florida Statutes [section 922.07]." Furthermore, rule 3.811(d) states that a motion for stay after the Governor's determination of sanity to be executed "shall be filed in the circuit court of the circuit in which the execution is to take place..." At the January 20, 2010 initial hearing, the parties agreed that this court presently does not have jurisdiction to consider this matter. Claim III is therefore dismissed.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

Mr. Grossman was denied his constitutional rights because he was not granted an evidentiary hearing on his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase of his trial. Trial counsel was ineffective because Mr. Grossman was not examined by a competent mental health professional. After the original 3.851 motion, Mr. Grossman was improperly denied a hearing based on the late Dr. Henry Dee's findings which would have supported the contention that trial counsel was ineffective during the penalty phase. Dr. Michael Maher has interpreted the findings on the late Dr. Dee, and is ready and able to evaluate Mr. Grossman and testify at an evidentiary hearing about trial counsel's ineffectiveness. New caselaw shows Mr. Grossman's argument to be timely based on newly discovered evidence.

Mr. Grossman further argues that Florida's death penalty statute is arbitrary and capricious in violation of his constitutional rights. Mr. Grossman's trial court and jury did not hear all of his available mitigating evidence. Mr. Grossman is also being treated differently from a similarly situated appellant concerning the issue of government agents' false testimony at the trial level.

The death penalty is arbitrary and capricious as it relates to Mr. Grossman because he has been denied clemency. Though Mr. Grossman did have a clemency

proceeding back on October 26, 1988, the Governor has not obtained new pertinent information about Mr. Grossman's life.

Lastly, executing Mr. Grossman would be cruel and unusual because he may be incompetent at the time of trial. Besides his well documented mental problems, Mr Grossman has been incarcerated since 1984. Statistics show that individuals incarcerated over a long period of time have diminished mental capacity.

#### **ARGUMENT I**

THE POST-CONVICTION COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. GROSSMAN AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING FOR HIS SUCCESSOR MOTION. AS A RESULT, MR. GROSSMAN WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS UNDER THE SIXTH. EIGHTH AND **FOURTEENTH** AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED **STATES** AND THE **PROVISIONS** CORRESPONDING OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

In its order denying relief on this claim, the lower court held in its order of January 21, 2010:

Nevertheless, the Defendant contends that he should be granted an evidentiary hearing on this claim based upon Massaro v. United States; 538 U.S. 500 (2003), Allen v. Butterworth; 756 So.2d 52 (Fla. 2000); and Porter v. McCollum, 130 S.Ct. 447 (U.S. 2009). This court is not bound to grant an evidentiary hearing based on these cases. The court notes that Massaro deals with an initial claim and holds that allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel may be brought in collateral proceedings – not

that evidentiary hearings should always be held on such claims. See Massaro, 538 U.S. at 502-503, 504. Additionally, Allen suggested proposed amendments to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure that would require an evidentiary hearing "in respect to the *initial* motion in every case." (See Court order of Jan. 21, 2010 page 6).

In his initial 3.850 motion, Mr. Grossman was denied an evidentiary hearing on Claim VI based on the holding that this claim would be used as a second appeal. This was error. The standard for summary denial of an evidentiary hearing on Defendant's 3.850 claims is detailed in <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 737 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1999):

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