IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARTIN GROSSMAN,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC10-118 Lower Tribunal No. CRC84-11698 ACTIVE DEATH WARRANT

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

/

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0503843 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 carol.dittmar@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The court below properly denied Grossman's successive motion for postconviction relief. The court's finding that the motion was untimely is well supported by the record; the motion does not rely on any newly discovered facts or any major change in the law. In addition, the individual claims are procedurally barred, refuted by the record, and meritless. No evidentiary hearing or stay of execution is warranted on Grossman's allegations.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING GROSSMAN'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE AT PENALTY PHASE

Grossman's first issue asserts that the court below should have permitted him to develop factual support for his claim that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in the penalty phase of his capital trial. According to Grossman, he was improperly denied the opportunity to present evidence on this claim in his initial postconviction proceeding, so another evidentiary hearing is now warranted. In denying this claim, Judge Bulone expressly found it to be successive, untimely, and without merit (V2/178-80). Because Grossman's claim was summarily denied, review is *de novo*. <u>Walton v. State</u>, 3 So. 3d 1000, 1005 (Fla. 2009); <u>State v. Coney</u>, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003).

As in <u>Walton</u>, Grossman's motion raised a claim that he has previously presented in postconviction. His prior allegation that counsel were ineffective in failing to investigate and present mental mitigation was denied on the merits following an evidentiary hearing, and this ruling was upheld on appeal (PC ROA V16/2831-37); <u>Grossman</u>, 708 So. 2d 250-51. No new facts or change in law has been identified to justify reconsideration of

this issue. The court's finding of a procedural bar was compelled under these circumstances. <u>Marek v. State</u>, 8 So. 3d 1123, 1129 (Fla. 2009) (rejecting reconsideration of previously litigated claim of ineffective assistance of counsel after signing of death warrant).

A review of the record in this case fully supports both the procedural bar applied below and the original rejection of this claim in Grossman's initial postconviction challenge to his convictions and sentences. Grossman's first postconviction motion included two claims regarding his mental state at the time of the crime. In Claim 5A, Grossman asserted that his trial attorneys provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to investigate and present an adequate penalty phase defense. Grossman specifically alleged that counsel should have presented evidence supporting the "mental mitigation factors" in Sections 921.141(6)(b) and (f), Florida Statutes (PC. ROA V1/192). In Claim 6, Grossman claimed that he had been denied a competent mental health examination. Grossman specifically asserted that counsel had retained Dr. Sidney Merin prior to trial, but that counsel had failed to provide Dr. Merin with the necessary background information and, consequently, Merin had failed to adequately assess Grossman's mental state (PC. ROA V2/329-337).

In support of these claims, Grossman attached the same report from Dr. Brad Fisher attached to his third successive motion filed below on January 18, 2010 (PC. ROA V5/846). Dr. laude graduate of Harvard University Fisher, a cum who specialized in forensic evaluations, examined Grossman on March 28, 1990. His testing did not reveal any signs of "a current psychotic condition or of any major affective disorder" (PC. ROA V5/851). However, Dr. Fisher noted that his testing revealed "soft signs of organic impairment," supported by Grossman's history of "chronic and extensive drug and alcohol dependence," and that "[f]urther testing would be required to determine the nature and extent of this probable mental disability" (PC. ROA V5/850-51).

On October 18, 1991, the circuit court granted an evidentiary hearing on Grossman's Claim 5, and denied Claim 6 as procedurally barred, insufficiently pled, and meritless (PC. ROA V10/1802-04). The court specifically found that, even if the substance of Grossman's allegations had been introduced into evidence, his allegations in Claim 6 were insufficient to show prejudice under <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) (PC. ROA V10/1804). This finding was expressly upheld on appeal. Grossman, 708 So. 2d at 252.

Prior to the 1994 evidentiary hearing, the State filed a motion requesting permission to speak with Dr. Merin, asserting Grossman had waived any privileged information by challenging his counsels' performance with regard to the failure to develop mental health mitigation and noting that Dr. Fisher had specifically reviewed and relied on Dr. Merin's report (PC. ROA V11/1959-60). Grossman's attorneys responded that they would not present any witness that relied on Dr. Merin's information (PC. ROA V11/1970-71). The court denied the motion and offered to revisit the issue if any such testimony was offered (PC. ROA V11/1972).

Despite securing a hearing on his claim of ineffective assistance for failing to present evidence of mental mitigation, Grossman did not present Dr. Fisher as a witness at the evidentiary hearing in 1994. The only expert offered by the defense was Kevin Sullivan, a licensed clinical social worker (PC. ROA V11/2070-2122). Sullivan testified that Grossman was raised in a dysfunctional environment, and his development had been negatively impacted by a number of factors, including that Grossman had been given inappropriate caretaking responsibilities from a young age; that his family had relocated at a critical time in his development; and that he experienced

grief at the loss of his father and grandfather (PC. ROA V11/2083-98).

Given this history, the lower court was compelled to find a procedural bar when Grossman reasserted this same claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in his fourth postconviction motion filed in 2010. The court noted that Grossman's successive motion "does not state why claims which have been previously presented to this court should be relitigated or why the claims were not raised in the previous three rule 3.851 motions" (V2/177). This failure to comply with Rule 3.851(e)(2) establishes that the entire motion was untimely and subject to summary denial on that basis alone. <u>Marek</u>, 8 So. 3d at 1127.

In addition, there are several other independent grounds supporting the procedural bar as to this issue. Because this prior exact claim was previously litigated, the ruling constitutes law of the case and cannot be revisited. Topps v. State, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004) (discussing application of res judicata to claims previously litigated on the merits). Beyond the law of the case doctrine, it is well established that Rule 3.851 prohibits reconsideration of prior postconviction claims. Marek, 8 So. 3d at 1129; Wright v. State, 857 So. 2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003); Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506, 518 n. 10 (Fla. 1999); Atkins v. State, 663 So. 2d 624, 626 (Fla. 1995);

<u>Christopher v. State</u>, 489 So. 2d 22, 24 (Fla. 1986). All pertinent case law fully supports the lower court's denial of this claim as untimely and successive.

Disregarding the fact that he was granted an evidentiary hearing on his Claim 5 in 1994, Grossman now focuses exclusively on the fact that his Claim 6 was summarily denied in 1991. Grossman's argument to this Court is three-fold; he asserts (1) Claim 6 in his initial motion was improperly denied under the standard set forth in Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509 (Fla. 1999); (2) his successor motion filed below was improperly summarily denied under the standard set forth in Lemon v. State, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986); and (3) he can now offer evidence of nonstatutory mental mitigation, which he claims must be considered newly discovered evidence because, allegedly, until Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009) was decided, "Florida courts did not consider non-statutory mental mitigation as mitigation" (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 19). His argument offers no basis for finding error in the summary resolution of this claim below.

As to the assertion that Claim 6 in his initial motion should not have been summarily denied under <u>Gaskin</u>, the instant proceeding cannot serve as an appeal from the 1995 denial of postconviction relief. Grossman was provided an opportunity to

fully litigate his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in his initial postconviction challenge, and he claimed on appeal at that time that his Claim 6 (alleging incompetent mental health assistance) should not have been summarily denied. This Court rejected that claim, specifically quoting the trial court's finding that Grossman's conclusory allegations were insufficient to demonstrate the necessary prejudice. <u>Grossman</u>, 708 So. 2d at 252.

Although Grossman now cites Gaskin, Massaro v. United States, 538 U.S. 500 (2003), and Allen v. Butterworth, 756 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2000), none of those cases suggest that the 1995 denial of relief in this case must be revisited, or even that this Court's previous rejection of this claim was improper. Gaskin and Allen discuss the standards to determine the need for an evidentiary hearing on an initial motion; they are not inconsistent with this Court's previous findings in this case. Massaro, a federal prosecution which relied on federal In statutory law, the United States Supreme Court rejected a procedural default that had been applied to a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel which could have been, but was asserted on direct appeal. As Grossman's claim of not, ineffective assistance of counsel was fully explored in his

initial postconviction proceeding, <u>Massaro</u>, to the extent it could be relevant at all, was clearly satisfied.

Grossman's assertion that application of the standard identified in Lemon should compel an evidentiary hearing is also without merit. The court below applied the proper standard in considering Grossman's current successive claim, pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(f)(5)(B). Grossman's motion, files and records "conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief" since the claims he raises are procedurally barred and affirmatively refuted by the record. sufficient under Lemon. In Lemon, although This is the defendant was under an active death warrant, he had not previously sought postconviction relief and, unlike in Grossman's case, there was no procedural bar to preclude postconviction consideration of Lemon's case.

Finally, Grossman's reliance on <u>Porter v. McCollum</u>, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009), to suggest that any evidence of nonstatutory mental mitigation should be considered newly discovered evidence in this case is easily refuted. Numerous cases clearly recognize that mental mitigation which does not rise to the level of the statutory mitigators can be considered as nonstatutory mitigation, and this principle was well established at the time of Grossman's trial and certainly at the time of his

initial postconviction proceedings. See Card v. State, 453 So. 2d 17, 24 (Fla. 1984) (noting claim that mental mitigation that did not rise to the level of statutory mitigation should be considered as nonstatutory mitigation); Adams v. State, 543 So. 2d 1244, 1248 (Fla. 1989) (noting witness had concluded "there were many nonstatutory mental health factors available"); Stewart v. State, 558 So. 2d 416 (Fla. 1990); Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381, 389 (Fla. 1994); Jones v. State, 652 So. 2d 346, 351 (Fla. 1995) (finding jury instructions sufficient to inform jury it could consider "nonstatutory mental mitigation" and noting that Cheshire v. State, 568 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1990), stands for the proposition that any mental or emotional disturbance must be considered as a nonstatutory mitigating circumstance); Bogle v. State, 655 So. 2d 1103, 1109 (Fla. 1995); Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637, 647 (Fla. 1995); see also Amendments to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.220 Discovery, 674 So. 2d 83, 84 (Fla. 1995) (adopting Rule 3.202 on Expert Testimony of Mental Mitigation During Penalty Phase of Capital Trial, including 3.202(c), which requires a statement "listing the statutory and nonstatutory mental mitigating circumstances the defendant expects to establish"). As these and many other cases demonstrate, Grossman's suggestion that the

concept of nonstatutory mental mitigation should be considered newly discovered evidence in light of Porter is without merit.

Grossman's argument offers no real analysis to contrast his allegations with those at issue in <u>Gaskin</u>, <u>Lemon</u>, <u>Allen</u>, <u>Massaro</u> or <u>Porter</u>, and he does not specifically identify any potential evidence that he would present if granted an evidentiary hearing in this case. He has clearly failed to demonstrate any error in the summary rejection of this claim entered below.

This Court routinely applies a procedural bar to mental health mitigation claims raised on the eve of execution. <u>Marek</u>, 8 So. 3d at 1129 (rejecting reconsideration of previously litigated claim of ineffective assistance of counsel after signing of death warrant); <u>Henyard v. State</u>, 992 So. 2d 120, 130-131 (Fla. 2008); <u>Schwab v. State</u>, 969 So. 2d 318, 325-26 (Fla. 2007); <u>Hill v. State</u>, 921 So. 2d 579 (Fla. 2006). Grossman's case provides a strong basis for the procedural bar, since his claim was specifically raised and rejected previously. He offers no new facts and no legal reason for reconsideration of this issue.

The egregious facts of Peggy Park's murder provide substantial aggravation to support Grossman's death sentence. The jury that unanimously recommended the sentence and the judge that imposed it heard the outrageous details in Grossman's own

words, from a number of different sources, since Grossman was so quick to boast about what he had done. A new discussion of any possible mental mitigation which was known but strategically not presented in prior postconviction proceedings cannot, as a matter of law, make any difference. Since Grossman's successive motion was procedurally barred and refuted by the record, the court below properly summarily denied this claim.

#### ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING GROSSMAN'S CLAIM THAT FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

Grossman also challenges the denial of his claim that Florida's death penalty is unconstitutional as applied in this case because it is arbitrary and capricious in violation of <u>Furman v. Georgia</u>, 408 U.S. 238 (1972). The court below denied this claim as procedurally barred and without merit (V2/181-82). As this claim was summarily denied, review is *de novo*. <u>Walton</u>, 3 So. 3d at 1005, <u>State v. Coney</u>, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003).

Grossman alleges that his death sentence is unconstitutional because (1) he was denied the opportunity to present mitigating evidence to the jury; (2) the State withheld material and exculpatory evidence in violation of <u>Giglio v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 405 U.S. 150 (1972); and (3) he was denied clemency. As these claims were procedurally barred and without merit, the court below properly denied this issue.

Grossman first claims that he was denied the right to present mitigating evidence to the penalty phase jury and asserts that he should be granted an evidentiary hearing in order to present the "newly discovered" evidence outlined in Claim One, <u>supra</u>. As previously discussed, Grossman's claim of

ineffective assistance of counsel regarding trial counsels' decision to forego presenting mental health mitigating evidence is procedurally barred. Grossman has offered no additional argument in Claim Two, but merely alleges, without any record citations, that he was prevented from presenting such evidence to the jury.

the penalty phase proceedings, Grossman At presented mitigating evidence from four witnesses: Myra Grossman (mother); Thomas Campbell (correctional officer); Steven Martakas (best friend); and Carolyn Middleton (correctional social worker). (DA. ROA V15/2607-51). Grossman has not cited to any ruling by the trial court prohibiting him from presenting any other mitigating evidence. In fact, the record clearly demonstrates that Grossman's trial counsel was aware that, pursuant to Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), he could present "any other aspect of the defendant's character or record and any other circumstances of the offense" as mitigating evidence. (DA. ROA V2/239-40; V15/2602-03). The trial court ultimately instructed the jury on the statutory mitigating factor of the defendant's age and also utilized the standard jury instruction informing the jury that they could consider "any other aspect of the defendant's character or record and any other circumstances of the offense" as a mitigating factor. Thus, Grossman's

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